Brigham Young University Law School
BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

2008

In the Matter of the George Fisher, Jr. Family Inter
Vivos Revocable Trust, Kim Fisher and Michael
Fisher v. Brent Fisher : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

questions or feedback.


https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca3%2F883&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca3?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca3%2F883&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca3?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca3%2F883&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/578?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca3%2F883&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca3/883?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca3%2F883&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE MATTER OF THE GEORGE
FISHER, JR. FAMILY INTER VIVOS
REVOCABLE TRUST,

An Irrevocable Trust.

KIM FISHER AND MICHAEL
FISHER,
Appellants,

VS.

BRENT FISHER,
Appellee.

Appellate Case No. 20080389-CA
Trial Court Case No. 043800019

Judge A. Lynn Payne

APPELLANT’S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

Christopher S. Hill #9931
KIRTON & McCONKIE

PO Box 45120

Salt Lake City, UT 84145-0120
801 328-3600

Counsel for the Appellee

Charles M. Bennett #283
BLACKBURN & STOLL, LC
257 West 200 South, Suite 800
Salt Lake City, UT 84101

801 521-7900

Counsel for the Appellants

FILED
UTAH APPELLATE COURTS

DEC 17 2008




IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE MATTER OF THE GEORGE
FISHER, JR. FAMILY INTER VIVOS
REVOCABLE TRUST,

An Irrevocable Trust.

KIM FISHER AND MICHAEL
FISHER,
Appellants,

VS.

BRENT FISHER,
Appellee.

Appellate Case No. 20080389-CA
Trial Court Case No. 043800019

Judge A. Lynn Payne

APPELLANT’S BRIEF

- APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

Christopher S. Hill #9931
KIRTON & McCONKIE

PO Box 45120

Salt Lake City, UT 84145-0120
801 328-3600

Counsel for the Appellee

Charles M. Bennett #283
BLACKBURN & STOLL, LC
257 West 200 South, Suite 800
Salt Lake City, UT 84101

801 521-7900

Counsel for the Appellants




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Description Page
TABLE OF CONTENTS i
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES i

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 1

ISSUES FOR REVIEW 1

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES ETC. 3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 3

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 10

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 14

ARGUMENT 15

1. The Trial Court Erred When it Held that Brent Converted S0 15
Head of Cattle on May 8, 1995 Valued at $550 per Head.

a. The Trial Court Misinterpreted the May 8, 1995 Allocation 15
and Erred as a Matter of Law in Setting the Conversion Date
as May 8, 1995.

b. The Trial Court Erred By Ruling on Matters Contrary to the 18
Parties’ Claims When it Implicitly Found that Brent’s
Agreement with George Continued after George’s Date of
Death.

c. The Trial Court’s Finding that Brent Converted 50 Head of 20
Cattle is Clearly Erroneous.

d. The Trial Court Erred as a Matter of Law in 24
Valuing the Converted Cattle at $550 per head.

2. The Trial Court Erred as a Matter of Law When it Gave Brent a 25
Credit for Property Taxes and Water Assessments He Paid While
Converting the Use of the Fisher Trust’s Land.

3. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Failing to Award 27

Attorney Fees Against Brent Fisher Personally.




Description Page

a. The Trial Court Erred by Ignoring the Crucial 27
Role the Prohibition Against Self-dealing Plays
as a Deterrent to the Trustee’s Use of the Trust
for His Personal Benefit.

b. The Trial Court Erred by Improperly Excusing 32
Brent’s Failure to Produce Documentary
Evidence He Was Ordered to Produce.

c. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Not Awarding 36
Attorney Fees Against Brent Personally.

CONCLUSION 40
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 42
ADDENDUM
DESCRIPTION TAB
Judgment, filed April 10, 2006 1
Ruling, filed July 13, 2006 2
Ruling, filed October 2, 2006 3
Ruling, filed May 1, 2005 +
Ruling and Order, filed November 16, 2007 5
Trial Exhibit 15, “Trustees Allocation of the Properties Held Under the George 6

Fisher, Jr. Family Revocable Trust Dated October 10, 19757
Trial Exhibit 17, February 22, 1997 Updated Appraisal Letter 7

ii




TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Citation Page
Cases
AK & R Whipple Plumbing and Heating v Guy, 2004 UT 47, 94 37,39
P.3d 270
Broadwater v Old Republic Sur, 854 P.2d 527 (Utah 1993) 24
Callister v Callister, 15 Utah 2d 380, 393 P.2d 477 (Utah 1964) 31
Christensen & Jensen, P C v Barrett & Daines, 2008 UT 64, 194 2
P.3d 931
Combe v Warren's Family Drive-Inns, Inc , 680 P.2d 733 (Utah 18, 19
1984)
Fibro Trust, Inc v Brahman Fin, Inc, 1999 UT 13, 974 P.2d 288 1,2
Hughes v Cafferty, 2004 UT 22, 89 P.3d 148 2,36,37,40
J Pochynok Co, Inc v Smedsrud, 2005 UT 39, 116 P.3d 353 38
Lake v Hermes Associates, 552 P.2d 126 (Utah 1976) 1
Meinhard v Salmon, 164 N.E. 545 (N.Y. 1928) 30
Mountain States Broadcasting Co v Neale, 783 P.2d 551 (Utah 38
App. 1989
State v Levine, 2006 UT 50, 144 P.3d 1096 2,3,36
State v Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994) 36
Walker v Walker, 17 Utah 2d 53, 404 P.2d 253 (Utah 1965) 26,27,32,34
Wheeler ex rel Wheeler v Mann, 763 P.2d 758 (Utah 1988) 27,31, 37

1l




Citation Page
Statutes

Utah Code Ann. §75-7-1004 36

Utah Code Ann. §75-7-1103(3)

Utah Code Ann. §78A-3-102(3)(j) 1
Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(j) 1
Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
Utah R. Civ. P. 34 34
Miscellaneous
George Gleason Bogert, George Taylor Bogert, Amy Morris Hess, 27

Bogert's Trusts And Trustees, § 543, “Trustee's Duty of Loyalty to

the Beneficiaries,” (Current through 2008 update)

Jesse Dukeminier, Stanley M. Johanson, James Lindgren, and 29
Robert H. Sitkoff, Wills, Trusts, and Estates, Aspen Publishers, 7"

Ed. 2005

Cecil J. Hunt, II, The Price of Trust: an Examination of Fiduciary 29
Duty and the Lender-Borrower Relationship, 29 Wake Forest L.

Rev. 719, Fall 1994

John H. Langbein, The Contractarian Basis of the Law of Trusts, 28,29
105 Yale L.J. 625 (1995)

Restatement (Second) of Trusts, §205, comment i (1959) 26
Restatement (Third) of Trusts, § 83. Duty To Keep Records And 26, 27

Provide Reports (Current through August 2008)

iv




STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the final judgment of the Eighth Judicial District Court for
Duchesne County. The Supreme Court had jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann.
§78A-3-102(3)(j). Based on the Supreme Court’s Order dated June 4, 2008, the Court of
Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(j).

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Issue for Review: Regarding the cattle that trustee, Brent Fisher (“Brent”),
converted, did the trial court correctly determine the date of the conversion, the number of
cattle converted, and the value of the cattle converted? Preserved at H.19-28;' R.379-80.

Standard of Review: “Whether the trial court properly applied the law of
conversion is a legal question, which we review for correctness.” Fibro Trust, Inc. v.
Brahman Fin., Inc., 1999 UT 13,9 19, 974 P.2d 288. Because the trial court’s findings
concerning the date of conversion, the cattle converted, and their value are ultimately
based on the proper interpretation of written documents, the standard of review is
correction of error. Lake v. Hermes Associates, 552 P.2d 126, 128 (Utah 1976).

Issue for Review: Regarding the calculation of damages for the trustee’s self-
dealing in using the Trust’s ranch and farm land, did the trial court improperly give the
trustee credit for the payment of property taxes and water assessments? Preserved at

R.381-87; H.18, 29-33.

' ~H.” refers to the transcript of the April 25, 2006 hearing at R.904.
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Standard of Review: “Whether the trial court properly applied the law of
conversion is a legal question, which we review for correctness.” Fibro Trust, Inc. v.
Brahman Fin., Inc., 1999 UT 13, § 19, 974 P.2d 288. Whether a party paid a particular
expense and in what amount would normally be treated as a question of fact, reversible
only for “clear error.” Christensen & Jensen, P.C. v. Barrett & Daines, 2008 UT 64, 920,
194 P.3d 931. However, where the party claiming the expense is a trustee who was
ordered to produce all documents supporting the claimed expense, the issue is a mixed
question of fact and law. Under the circumstances of this case, the Court of Appeals
should give less deference to the trial court’s ruling than it might otherwise give. State v.
Levine, 2006 UT 50, 925, 144 P.3d 1096.

Issue for Review: Did the trial court correctly refuse to award attorney fees and
expenses against Brent Fisher personally and in favor of Michael and Kim Fisher?
Preserved at R.387; H.34-35.

Standard of Review: Because the Fishers’ claim for payment of their attorney
fees and expenses is based on the inherent power of the trial court to award attorney fees
and expenses in trust litigation, the trial court’s decision is reviewed under the abuse of
discretion standard. Hughes v. Cafferty, 2004 UT 22, 920, 89 P.3d 148. Because the trial
court failed to consider the trustee’s culpability and the policy behind Utah’s absolute

prohibition of self-dealing, the Court of Appeals should give less deference to the trial
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court’s rulings than it might otherwise give. State v. Levine, 2006 UT 50, 425, 144 P.3d
1096.
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES ETC.

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations

whose interpretation is determinative of or of central importance to the appeal.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While serving as Trustee of the George Fisher, Jr. Family Inter Vivos Revocable
Trust (the “Fisher Trust™) between April 18, 1992 and May 26, 2001, Brent Fisher
converted valuable trust assets to his own use and benefit. R.534-539. On December 27,
2003, Michael Fisher and Kim Fisher (the “Fishers”) and their sister, Susan Thacker, filed
a petition to recover all trust assets that Brent had taken or lost. R.1-42. When Susan
withdrew her support for the petition (R.69), the Fishers, appellants herein, continued the
lawsuit against Brent.

On February 23, 2004, Brent delivered to the Fishers a document Brent claimed
was “an accounting for the trust covering the period from 1992 to 2000.” R.215, 4. This

“accounting” was admitted into evidence as trial exhibit 1.

* For ease of reference, trial exhibit 1 is referred to as the “Accounting” or
“Brent’s Accounting.” It has no beginning inventory, no ending inventory, nor any
reconciliation establishing that the assets on hand equal the ending inventory. Further, it
is titled a “Cash Flow Analysis.” As noted, Brent identified it as an accounting. R.213-
221;222-232; see R.215, 4.
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Thereafter, the Fishers filed their “Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings; in the
Alternative, Motion for Order Compelling Brent Fisher to Verify His Answers Regarding
Required Accountings.” R.128-132.° They sought a judgment that Brent had failed to
account, reserving the amount of damages. Id. Anticipating that Brent in response would
assert he had accounted and had provided supporting documentation, they asked the trial
court in the alternative to order Brent to respond under oath that he had provided all of the
required supporting documents. R.130.*

Prior to the scheduled hearing on the Fishers” Motion, Brent and the Fishers
stipulated and the trial court ordered:

2. [T]he Court orders Brent Fisher to produce to Kim and
Michael Fisher all of the underlying documents and records that show the
beginning inventory of assets when he began his administration of the
[Fisher] Trust, that show all receipts during his administration of the Trust,
that show all disbursements during the administration of the Trust, that
show all sales during his administration of the Trust, and that show the
assets of the Trust remaining on hand at the end of the accounting period.

For purposes of this Order, the Court sets the accounting period as
beginning on April 18, 1992 and ending on May 26, 2001.

3. The Court orders Brent Fisher to file a formal response . . .
aver[ring] he has produced all documents that the Court has ordered him to
produce and the date of that production.

3 The Clerk numbered record pages 128 through 132 twice (as 128, 129, 130, 131,
132, 128, 129, 130, 131, and 132). This reference is to the pages first numbered 128-132.

* See preceding footnote re numbering of pages 128-132.
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R. 269-73. In response to the Order, Brent delivered 1,575 pages of documents to the
Fishers. R.301, §8, R.302, 10. On August 5, 2005, Brent filed a “Notice of Production
of Documents Pursuant to Court Order” (R.276-78) in which his counsel averred:

To the extent the documents identified in the order exist and are in the

possession of [Brent Fisher], they will have been produced on August 11,

2005. In the event additional documents related to [Brent Fisher’s]

administration during the accounting period are discovered hereafter, then

[sic] responses shall be supplemented.

R.277, 95.° There was no supplementation until after the close of evidence at the end of
the trial. R.391-93.

Because the documents Brent produced contained only a handful of documents
related to the Fisher Trust and the vast majority were Brent Fisher’s personal financial
records (see testimony of David Castleton at T.80-91), the Fishers then filed a motion for
a contempt citation. R.277-80.° As part of that motion, the Fishers alleged that the Trial
court order required Brent to aver personally and under oath, and he had not done so.
R.285.

The trial court denied the Fishers” motion and held that the response by Brent’s

attorney constituted Brent’s averment. R.325-26. It further stated its view that the

Fishers should have filed a motion to compel and suggested the parties move as quickly

> In preparing the record for appeal, the clerk of the court inadvertently numbered
two pages 277 and two pages 278 in this order, 277, 278, 277, 278. This reference is to
the first page 277.

% Beginning on the second page 277. See preceding footnote.
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as possible so the trial court could order an evidentiary hearing. Id. Thereafter, the
Fishers filed their Rule 16 motion for a scheduling conference, and that led to the one day
evidentiary hearing on March 16, 2006. R. 350-51, 367, T. at 393.

Following the close of evidence, the trial court ordered the Fishers to prepare a
calculation of damages and file it with the trial court. T.310-11. The trial court
scheduled closing arguments to be held on April 25, 2006. R.494-95.

The Fishers filed their damage calculation on April 4, 2006. R.379-89. On April
20, 2006, Brent Fisher moved to reopen the evidence in order to submit documentary
evidence regarding a claim that he had taken or lost $170,556 in sales proceeds shown on
his Accounting. R. 391-92; see T.Exh 1, at 2. That matter was briefed, and following
closing arguments, the trial court granted that motion at the hearing held on April 26,
2008. H.101. Thereafter, the parties agreed to submit affidavits and have the trial court
rule on the case with the additional evidence contained in the affidavits. R.506-07.

The trial court entered its “Ruling” on July 13, 2006. Regarding Brent’s
conversion of the Trust’s cattle, the trial court ruled:

4. On May 8, 1995 LaRue Fisher and Brent Fisher allocated the

properties held by the original trust. The real property (200 acres of farm

land and one- half interest in 320 acres of ranch land) was divided equally

between the Marital and Family Trusts. Fifty head of cattle was divided,

with 30 head (60%) going to the Family Trust and 20 heard [sic] (40%)

going to the Marital Trust.

5. Prior to the 1995 allocation, the Trust assets had been appraised (in

late 1992 or early 1993). This appraisal listed, as a [sic] Trust assets, 50
head of cattle with a value of $42,000.00. In 1997 a second appraisal was
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completed which listed 100 head of cattle having a value of $55,000.00.
Brent Fisher was aware of each appraisal and made no objection to the
inclusion of cattle in either appraisal. Brent Fisher was serving as Trustee at
the time each appraisal was prepared and should have contested the
inclusion of cattle which did not exist.

6. On February 20, 2004 (which was after this action was filed) Brent
Fisher and LaRue Fisher acting as Trustees of the original Trust amended
the 1995 allocation. The amendment purportedly corrected the 1995
allocations statement that there were fifty head of cows and stated that when
George Fisher died, the Trust owned no cows.

7. ... The Court accepts the testimony that the arrangement between
Brent Fisher and his father was that he keep the calf crop as partial
compensation for his efforts and labor in running the farming operation.
Nevertheless, based on the original allocations. which was signed by Brent
Fisher and which attested to the ownership of 50 head of cows. the Court
finds that the trust owned 50 head of cows on May &, 1995. Certainly Brent
Fisher, who was then operating the farm, knew or should have known. the
number of cows. His statement attesting to the existence of 50 head is
strong and convincing evidence. Value is another issue. The Court has not
received any evidence as to the value of the cattle other than the 1992-1993
and 1997 appraisals. The Courts |sic] specific finding 1s that 50 cows were
owned by the Trust in May 1995. The agreement between Brent and his
father (George Jr) pre dated the Trust. Based upon this. the Court believes
that many, if not all. of the cows remaining in the Trust in 1995 were older
cows. The second appraisal properly reduces the values of older cows.
Older cows have a shorter remaining life expectancy and therefore less
value as producing livestock. While the Court does not give weight to the
1977 appraisal as to the number of cattle, there is no reason to doubt the
accuracy of the valuations. Valuation of cattle is readily available through
existing markets. The 1997 valuation of older cattle was $550.00 for cattle
seven to eight years old. Based upon the evidence before the Court, the
Court will value the 50 head at $550.00 a head, or $27.500.00. In doing so
the Court must express some frustration with the fact that there was no
direct evidence as to valuation in 1995. However, based upon the evidence
before the Court, I am comfortable that this is the most accurate figure
available to the Court.
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8. These cattle are no longer held by the Trust and there has been no
explanation as to their disposition or accounting for proceeds received. The
agreement between Mr. Brent Fisher and his father (George) was that the

Trust would receive the proceeds as the Trust cows were culled from the

herd.” The Court will therefore find that Mr. Brent Fisher appropriated the

sum of $27,500.00 from the Trust and that judgement should enter in favor

of the family trust for $16,5000.00 (60%) and $11,000.00 (40%) for the

Marital trust.

R. 534-36.

Regarding Brent’s conversion of the Trust’s lands, it set the damages for Brent’s
use of the ranch and farm land and gave Brent credit for property taxes and water
assessments he paid. R.536-39, 499-14. It denied the claim for recovery of $170,566.00.
R.539-40, §15. It further denied the Fishers’ claim against Brent personally that he pay
all of the attorney fees incurred by the Fishers. R.590, q17.

Thereafter, the Fishers filed a motion in the nature of a Rule 59 motion claiming
the trial court erred: (I) in deciding not to award attorney fees against Brent on a
“prevailing party” theory rather than a consideration of the trustee’s culpability in
converting assets; and (ii) in determining the cattle conversion occurred on May 8, 1995
(rather than George’s date of death), using a valuation from 1997, and in using 50 head of
cattle rather than 100 head of cattle. R. 543-545. They argued that the trial court failed to

consider that Brent was the trustee, it was his duty to account, and he had been ordered to

produce all documents in support of his accounting. R.554-55. The trial court denied that

7 Culling cows is a livestock management technique in which older cattle are sold
to insure the health of the herd. See T.180:23-181:4.
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motion in its “Ruling” entered on October 2, 2006. R.600-02. As to the cattle
conversion, the trial court ruled:

There was no direct evidence as to when conversion occurred. However, the

Court believed the testimony of Brent Fisher that he and his father agreed

that Brent Fisher would keep the calves and George Fisher would receive

the proceeds from the sale of older cattle as they were culled from the herd.

There was no evidence as to when each individual animal was sold.

However, it is obvious that this did not occurred at one time, but was

something that took place over several years. Nor was there any evidence as

to the value of older cattle at market. The Court used the values and

numbers of cattle that it felt was most convincing based upon a review of

the evidence.
R.601-02. It also ruled that it “was never asked to make a finding that Brent Fisher
violated his duties as a trustees [sic] to keep records, and did not do so.” R.600-601.

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