2008

In the Matter of the George Fisher, Jr. Family Inter Vivos Revocable Trust. Kim Fisher and Michael Fisher v. Brent Fisher : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's decision regarding Trust cattle was not clearly erroneous, in that the date of loss, the number of cattle lost and the value were all supported by evidence. This decision represented a weighing of indirect evidence and reaching conclusions based upon the evidence the trial court found most convincing. The cattle ruling was proper and ought not be overturned.

There was no clear error in the trial court crediting Brent for the value of payments that he made for property taxes and water assessments. The court properly found that these expenses were obligations of the Trust, and Brent, as trustee, having personally paid those expenses, was entitled to reimbursement for those payments, given in the form of a credit offset against his rent obligations.

⁴ Brent has maintained throughout this proceeding that there were no cattle owned by the Trust as of George's death, and that he listed an arbitrary number of cattle in the Trustee's Allocation to appease Kim and Michael. *See infra* pp. 13-14. The trial court relied on the Trustee's Allocation to find that 50 cattle belonged to the Trust.

The trial court was correct in denying Kim and Michael's claim for attorneys' fees, as they did not establish any entitlement to recover attorneys' fees in this case at all, much less a claim against Brent personally. Their claim to fees was discretionary in the trial court, and the indicia for a proper award of fees to trust beneficiaries were contrary to the trial court's findings in this case.

The trial court erred as a matter of law in assessing prejudgment interest against Brent, as the Trust contained a limitation of liability clause limiting trustee liability to principal and income. Moreover, the evidence supporting the date of conversion and valuation of cattle was insufficiently definite to support an award of prejudgment interest.

The court erred in not granting Brent his attorneys' fees, as he was statutorily entitled to recover his fees for defending the lawsuit against him in good faith.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN MAKING ITS THREE FINDINGS REGARDING THE NUMBER, TIMING, AND VALUE OF CATTLE CONVERTED.

Kim and Michael challenge three findings of fact by the trial court regarding cattle belonging to the Trust: (i) the Trust owned 50 cattle during Brent's administration of the Trust (Ruling No. 1, R.535, ¶ 7); (ii) the cattle were unaccounted for after May 8, 1995 (Ruling No. 3, R.725-26); and (iii) the value of the cattle at that time was \$27,500.00 (Ruling No. 1, R.536, ¶ 7). These findings were made after a full analysis of the evidence and based upon weighing competing evidence. These findings required the trial court to draw inferences from circumstantial evidence, as there was no direct evidence on any of these points. While Brent disagrees with the court's findings, he does not attribute any

reversible error to these determinations. However, there is no basis for Kim and Michael to obtain a reversal of these findings.

A. The Court did not Err in Rejecting the Claim for 100 Cattle.

The trial court was faced with the challenging task of determining how many cattle were owned by the Trust during Brent's administration. The court received evidence of three competing numbers of cattle in the Trust under Brent's care. Brent's testimony, along with the First Amendment to Trustee's Allocation of the Properties Held Under the George Fisher, Jr. Family Revocable Trust Dated October 10, 1975 (the "Amended Allocation") at Exhibit 16, stated that the Trust did not own any cattle on the date of George's death in 1992. T.159:2-5; 172:11-13. The original Trustee's Allocation, at Exhibit 15, listed 50 cattle. Testimony established that this number derived from an appraisal conducted in 1992. T.134:12-17. The sole evidence supporting Kim and Michael's claim to 100 cattle was a letter update to the appraisal, performed in 1997. Exh. 17. This Court weighed the evidence, and found that the Trust owned 50 cattle. Ruling, ¶ 7.

In light of the competing evidence, and based upon the weight and credibility given to each by the trial court, the court was well within its discretion to reject Kim and Michael's claim for 100 cattle and find that the Trust owned 50 cattle.

First, Brent notes that Kim and Michael have declined to marshal the evidence in support of the challenged findings. Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires a party challenging a fact finding to "first marshal all record evidence

that supports the challenged finding.” As the Court well knows, the requirement to marshal is articulated as follows:

[t]he marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil's advocate. Counsel must extricate himself or herself from the client's shoes and fully assume the adversary's position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Of course, the consequence for failing to comply with the marshaling requirement is for the appellate court to assume that the findings are correct. *See Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998); *Johnson v. Higley*, 1999 UT App 278, ¶ 37, 989 P.2d 61.⁵

Kim and Michael identify two findings they challenge in this context – that 50 cattle were owned by the Trust, and that the Trust did not own 100 cattle. For each finding, Kim and Michael aver that “[t]here is no evidence to marshal in support of the trial court’s finding....” AB at p.20; *see also* AB at p.22. As shown below, this is not true, and by failing to marshal the evidence, Kim and Michael have improperly shifted to

⁵ Recently the Utah Supreme Court has stepped back from these mandatory consequences articulated in *Valcarce*. *See Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus*, 2007 UT 42, ¶¶ 16-21, 164 P.3d 384. Failure to marshal does not impose strict limitations on the reviewing court. It retains discretion to independently review the basis behind a trial court’s findings, though the party failing to marshal bears the risk that the reviewing court will decline to review the challenged findings. *Id.* at ¶ 19.

Brent the burden of identifying all of the evidence on which the trial court's findings may rest.

Two separate exhibits support one or both of these trial court findings. Exhibit 15, the Trustees Allocation, dated May 8, 1995, and signed by both Brent and LaRue acting in the capacity as trustees of the Trust, lists 50 head of cattle as an asset allocated to the marital and family trusts.⁶ Exhibit 16 is an amendment to the Exhibit 15 Trustee's Allocation, also signed by each of Brent and LaRue in their capacities as trustees of the Trust, whereby Brent and LaRue purport to amend the initial allocation by removing all cattle as property of the Trust.

In addition, the following testimony by Brent Fisher all stands in further support of one or both of the court findings:

- A. Well, I can't remember this hundred head of cows that's in this – in this letter was ever sent. (T.122:13-15).
- Q. Mr. Fisher, do you recall how many head of cattle were on the initial appraisal done by Cloward back in 1992 or 1993?
 - A. 52 head.
 - Q. 52, did you say?
 - A. 50 something, 52, 57. (T.134:12-17).
- Q. Is it your position, Mr. Fisher, that – in fact the Trust did not own 50 head of cattle at the time of your father's death?
 - A. No, they didn't.
 - Q. So, it is your position that the Trust didn't own any cattle at the time of your father's death?

⁶ Kim and Michael discredit this evidence based on Brent's testimony that there were never any cattle, making the Trustee's Allocation a "misrepresentation." AB at p.20. This would go to the weight, not the existence, of the supporting evidence. Kim and Michael fail to note that the trial court did not accept Brent's testimony discrediting the Trustee's Allocation. Moreover, the Trustee's Allocation was the most contemporaneous evidence and was also subscribed by then-current beneficiary and acting co-trustee, LaRue Fisher. Challenging the credibility of this evidence does not erase its existence for purposes of marshaling.

- A. Yes. (T.158:23 – 159:5).
- A. If those cows are there, I never sold none of the cows. The cows would still be there, if there's cows. I never sold none of the cows.
- Q. You are answering a slightly different question. You are basically saying there were no cows at the time of your father's death?
- A. Yes. (T.161:12-18).
- Q. Were there 50 head of cattle that existed at the time of your father's death, that had at some point in time been owned by him? Either you owned it now or somebody else owned it?
- A. No.
- Q. So what happened to the cattle that he had before his death?
- A. He sold them.
- Q. So he had sold all of that cattle, is that correct?
- A. Correct. (T.165:23 – 166:8).
- Q. Now, at the time that your father died, were there any cattle that had his brand on them?
- A. No. (T.172:11-13).
- Q. And you say that there never was 50 head of cattle, but you put it in there. For what reason did you put it in, why did you put it in?
- A. I don't – well, I thought there might be some cows that he had left there, he took all the culled cows and stuff, and the last few years he hadn't had any cows and I just – I just made a mistake. I never sold none of them cows with his brand on it. He'd taken his culled cows and he sold it. (T.208:8-17).
- Q. How many cattle did he [George] have when you started working on the ranch?
- A. About 150.
- Q. Did you see cattle sold from George's allotment?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you personally take cattle to the auction while George was alive to sell his cattle?
- A. Yes. (T.260:17-25).
- Q. What were the arrangements of your use of the [property], the ranch property, while your dad was still alive?
- A. I run it like he wanted me to run it, and I run it and I took all – like the calve crops. He never had no new – like you are saying, the cows that he had, there was no new cows on it because he never had no heifers, he never did calve out. (T.261:21 – 262:3).

Each of these nine lines of questioning either directly supports the trial court finding of 50 cattle or calls into question the existence of any cattle at all, including Kim

and Michael's challenge to the finding that there was not 100 cattle in the Trust. Moreover, LaRue's execution of the amended allocation, changing the number of allocated cattle to zero, would have been directly contrary to her own interest as the current beneficiary of the Trust. Certainly the evidence existed to call into question Kim and Michael's claim to 100 Trust cattle.

Even the sole evidence claimed by Kim and Michael in support of their 100 cattle argument was equivocal. The 1997 appraisal update refers to the livestock, "consisting of some 100 mixed breed, bred cows...." Exh. 17, p.2, (emphasis refocused). In other words, 100 was an approximation made in 1997 by the appraiser who never counted the actual cows owned by the Trust.

By its own terms, the 1997 appraisal update is "invalid" unless accompanied by the original November 12, 1992 appraisal. *Id.* at p.1. The trial court stated that it had "no confidence that the 1997 appraisal accurately reported the existence of 100 cows in the Trust." Ruling No. 1, R.535, ¶ 7. This was in part because there was "no evidence that the appraiser, who lived in Colorado, ever came to Utah and observed or counted cows." *Id.*; T.123:11-25. Kim and Michael argue error, pointing to testimony where the appraiser did visit the ranch in 1992 when conducting his original appraisal. AB at p.22. However, while the appraiser "could" have counted cows in 1992 as speculated by Kim and Michael (*Id.*), the court was correct that there was no evidence whatsoever that "some 100" cows were ever physically observed or counted by the appraiser. Any valuation made by the appraiser, whether in 1992 or 1997, was not based on any independent determination of the existence of enumerated cattle owned by the trust,

much less counting “some 100” cattle. Therefore, it was proper, and entirely within the trial court’s role as fact finder, to determine that there was no credibility to the claim of 100 cattle owned by the Trust, and to instead attribute 50 cattle to Trust ownership.

Kim and Michael overreach when they state that “[t]he original appraisal appraised 100 head of mixed breed, bred cows....” AB at p.23. We do not have the original appraisal. No one knows what was contained therein. Kim and Michael state as fact the very assumption they argue, being the only assumption favorable to their position. The only testimony on this point was Brent’s, who stated that the original appraisal only contained “50 something” cattle (T.134:12-17), and that was the basis for the information he included in the original Trustee’s Allocation in 1995, which also designated 50 cattle.

The evidence supporting the trial court’s finding that there were 50 cattle in the trust comes primarily from Exhibit 15, where 50 cattle are listed and valued in the Trustee’s Allocation. Of course, the evidence indicated that this value came from the first appraisal that was never offered into evidence. T.162:3-23. It is certainly a reasonable inference to draw that had the initial appraisal in 1992 valued 100 cattle as claimed by Kim and Michael, the original Trustee’s Allocation would have maintained consistency with that appraisal, as did the other values for the assets listed. The trial court’s cattle determination was certainly not clearly erroneous given the weak evidence supporting any contrary findings.

B. The Court did not Err in Finding that the Cows were Owned as of May 8, 1995.

As already indicated, on May 8, 1995, Brent and LaRue executed the Trustee's Allocation, wherein they reported that the Trust owned 50 head of cattle. The Court relied on this representation in part for its determination that Brent was responsible for any losses resulting being unable to account for those cattle now. However, the court did not set May 8, 1995, or any other date, as the date of conversion, as argued by Kim and Michael. What the trial court did find was that the Trust owned 50 cattle on May 8, 1995. Ruling No. 1, R. 535 ¶ 7. Further, the trial court found:

there was no evidence presented to support May 8, 1995, as a date which any cattle were converted. As stated above, there was no evidence to establish a specific date for the conversion of cattle or for any single cow. The Court would have to speculate to fix a date for the actual conversion of cattle. The cows may have been converted or the proceeds converted on May 8, 1995, or at any time after May 8, 1995. Moreover, as the Court noted in the October 2, 2006 ruling, it is likely that the cows were disposed of over a period of years.

Ruling No. 3, R.726 (emphasis added). This is the finding that Kim and Michael attempt to reverse, and there is no clear error in this finding.

It may be true, as argued by Kim and Michael, that the legal effect of the 1995 Trustee's Allocation was to identify that the Trust owned 50 cattle on the date of George Fisher's death in April 1992. However, there is a factual implication as well. If, as Kim and Michael have postulated, the cattle went missing as of George's death in 1992, it would be unusual—indeed damning— for Brent to list this asset on the Trustee's Allocation dated May 8, 1995. Regardless of the legal distinctions drawn in the appellants' opening

brief, the trial court, as fact finder, was well within its discretion to determine that as of May 1995 the cattle were still owned by the Trust. Otherwise, this allocation would not have included the cattle when prepared three years later. If the Court finds the 1995 Trustee's Allocation reporting as credible, it makes sense to find that the cattle existed in the Trust as of the date of the allocation. Therefore, there was no basis to set the date of conversion prior to May 1995.

Of course, there is no evidence of when the cattle actually went missing (aside from Brent's own testimony that they were all conveyed by George prior to his death and prior to Brent's administration of the Trust). Ruling No. 3, R.726. Therefore, the court used the May 1995 date as the last date on which it had a factual basis for believing that the cattle were still owned by the Trust. *Id.* Petitioners have not offered any evidence that Brent acted improperly respecting the cattle prior to the May 8, 1995 allocation. Therefore, it would be an error to find that the misappropriation occurred prior to that date. This is a proper and reasonable finding given the evidence, and again not clear error on the part of the trial court. Kim and Michael are not permitted to reverse this finding on appeal.

C. The Court did not Err in Setting the Value of the Cows.

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